IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES BELCHER,

Appellant,

V.

CASE NO. SC01-1414

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

W. C. McLAIN
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
SUITE 401
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(850) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is a direct appeal in a capital case. Cover pages of the record incorrectly refer to this case as an appeal from the denial of a motion to vacate judgment and sentence. The record on appeal consists of 22 volumes. The clerk's record including pleadings, orders and pretrial hearings are contained in volumes one through ten and will be designated with the prefix "R" followed by the volume and appropriate page numbers. The trial, penalty phase and sentencing transcripts are contained in volumes 11 through 22 and will be designated with the prefix "T." References to the appendix to this brief will be designated with the prefix "App."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Procedural Progress Of The Case

A Duval County grand jury returned an indictment on February 25, 1999, charging James Bernard Belcher with first degree murder and sexual battery for the death of Jennifer Embry occurring on the 8th or 9th of January 1996. (R1:14-15) Belcher pleaded not guilty on February 26, 1999. (R4:655-657) The case proceeded to a jury trial commencing on March 26, 2001. (T11:1) On March 30, the jury found Belcher guilty of first degree murder as charged in count one under both premeditation and felony murder theories. (R3:459; T18:1404) As to count two, the jury found Belcher guilty of sexual battery with great force as charged. (R3:460; T18:1404) The penalty phase of the trial was held on April 11, 2001. (T20:1429-T22:1844) After hearing additional evidence, the jury recommended a death sentence by a vote of 9 to 3. (R3:582; T22:1840) The trial court conducted a <u>Spencer</u> hearing on May 3, 2001. (T22:1848)

On May 17, 2001, Circuit Judge Peter L. Dearing sentenced Belcher to death for the murder and 25 years in prison for the sexual battery. (R4:627-632h;T22:1862-1883) (App. A) The court found three aggravating circumstances: (1) a previous conviction for a violent felony; (2) homicide occurred during a sexual battery; and (3) the homicide was especially heinous, atrocious

or cruel. (R4:632a-632e)(App. A) In mitigation, the court found nonstatutory mitigating circumstances: (1) considerate and generous relationship with his family; (2) the loving relationship between Belcher and his immediate and extended family; (3) Belcher's ongoing encouragement and counsel to family members assisting them from engaging in criminal activity; (4) Belcher's many acts of kindness to others; (5) Belcher's encouragement to his cousins; (6) Belcher's role as a mentor to his family; (7) Belcher's continued availability to counsel relatives even though he was in prison; (8) the fact that Belcher was raised in a high crime area in New York; (9) the fact that Belcher was sent to an adult prison at a young age which impacted on his development; (10) the fact that Belcher never abused alcohol or drugs; (11) Belcher's service as a tutor to younger inmates, including providing counsel which built self-esteem, gave them positive advice, and fostered peaceful resolution of disputes; (12) Belcher's desire to continue to help other inmates in the future and his ability to serve society in that capacity in prison; (13) The fact that Belcher discipline problem has been а during his recent incarcerations; (14) Belcher displayed proper behavior at trial; and (15) Belcher express sincere remorse and genuine concern for the distress caused to the victim's family. (R4:632e-632f)(App.

A) The trial court "... considered each of these mitigating circumstances and has assigned some weight to each with greater weight being assigned to the argument, supported by the evidence, that even in prison the Defendant continues to benefit society by providing counsel to inmates who sought him out for advice." (R4:632f-632g)(App. A)

Belcher filed his notice of appeal on June 14, 2001.

(R4:637) Facts -- Guilt Phase

On January 9, 1996, Jennifer Embry did not arrive at her job at Arlington Acute Care Center, and her supervisor and friend, Pamela Lyle, called Jennifer's brother, Ricky Embry, about her absence.(T15:744-751) Ricky worked for the Jacksonville Fire Department. (T13:570-571) Jennifer, his younger sister, also lived in Jacksonville where she attended Florida Technical College and worked two jobs. (T13:572-577) Ricky checked on his sister frequently, and he had installed a peephole and a security chain on the front door of her townhouse where she lived alone. (T13:573-577) The house also had and alarm system, but it may not have been connected to a monitoring service. (T13:578) After receiving the call from Pamela Lyle, Ricky first tried to call his sister, and then he went to her house. (T13:579-580) He placed his key in the front door, and the door just opened. (T13:581-582) The alarm did not sound.

(T13:582-582) He entered and called for his sister. (T13: 582) Upon looking through the house, Ricky found Jennifer's body in the bathtub of the downstairs bathroom. (T13:582-583) He called 911 for assistance. (T13:583)

Dr. Bonofacio Floro, the medical examiner, secured the body at the scene and later performed an autopsy on Jennifer Embry. (T14:640-682) Floro opined that the cause of death was strangulation and drowning. (T14: 640) Based on an external examination of the body, Floro concluded that the body had been submerged. (T14:645) He also found foaming in the nose and mouth. (T14:645, 651) The foaming is consistent with drowning due to the mixture of water and air in the trachea and bronchial tree. (T14: 656) There was a bruise and an abrasion at the corner of the right eyebrow, bruising on the neck, and a laceration on the right shoulder. (T14:649-652) An internal examination revealed a small hemorrhage on the hyoid bone and bruising. (T14:653) The lungs were filled with fluid.(T14:657) Embry was alive when the strangulation and drowning commenced. (T14:654-656) Although death would not have been instantaneous, strangulation would have produced unconsciousness within a minute. (T14:655-656) The drowning could have occurred after unconsciousness. (T14:656)

During the examination of the body, Floro also found a bruise to the hymen and a small laceration on the vagina. (T14:657-661) These injuries could have been caused by the forcible entry of something into the vagina. (T14:660-661) A specimen retrieved from the cervix, revealed including the heads and tails. (T14:665-668) When deposited, the spermatozoa will have the heads and tails intact, but as time passes, the tails will break off. (T14:668-669) Some of the spermatozoa had lost their tails. (T14:669) Sperm can remain viable in a live person for 24 hours. (T14:669) When a person dies, there are more variables, and sperm has been known to survive as much a four weeks. (T14:669-670) Floro said the sperm will keep their tails for three to six days after being deposited. (T14: 669) Based on the presence of the sperm Floro found, he concluded that Embry could have had sexual intercourse within three to six days before her death. (T14:671) Although Floro stated that the laceration to the vagina should not have occurred during consensual sex, he could not say that the sperm was deposited at the time of the injuries. (T14:673-675)

Sheriff's Office crime scene investigators examined the scene, took photographs and collected various items as possible evidence. (T14:606-639) The townhouse was immaculately clean and neat which was consistent with Jennifer Embry's housekeeping

habits. (T13:578; T14:609-612, 708) In the bathroom where the body was located, the only items found out of place were green slippers in the middle of the floor and a shower curtain rod which had been pulled down and was being held up with a wash cloth. (T14:614-617, T15:) Testing on the green slippers disclosed that one had a semen stain including intact, nonmotile spermatozoa. (T16:1005-1007) A bath towel had been placed on the toilet seat, and a nightgown and undergarments were on the sink vanity. (T14:617-619) The tub had been partially filled with water. (T14:618, 626-628) The bathroom floor was dry. (T14:616) Some latent fingerprints were lifted from various places in the townhouse, and the ones of value for comparison purposes proved to have been made by Jennifer Embry. (T15:758-772, 784-808) From the downstairs master bedroom, investigators obtained some items including sheets, two mattress pads and a comforter from the bed. (T15:774-775; T16:976-977) One mattress pad had a semen stain including intact spermatozoa. (T16:976-978, 1005-1010)

Anna Alford and Maxine Phillips were Jennifer Embry's neighbors living in the two townhouses adjacent to one side of Embry's residence. (T14:683-684, 690-691) Alford also went to school with Jennifer at Florida Technical College where they both studied computer science. (T14:685-686) On January 8, 1996,

Alford had seen Jennifer pull her car into her driveway the night before as she normally did. (T14:686-687) Jennifer did not show up for class the next day which was unusual. (T14:686, 697-701) Phillips lived next-door to Jennifer's townhouse. (T14:691) She saw Jennifer sometime before 8:00 a.m. on January 8, 1996. (T14:692-693) Later, during the early morning of January 9th around 2:00 a.m., Phillips was awakened by three loud noises from Jennifer's house which sounded like someone falling against the wall. (T14:693-694)

During the course of his investigation, Detective Robert Hinson interviewed James Belcher on August 4, 1998. (T15:896-911) Hinson showed Belcher a photograph of Jennifer Embry and asked if Belcher knew her, had a chance encounter with her or had seen her. (T15:896-911) Belcher stated that he did not know her and had never seen her. (T15:896-911) He stated that he had never had sex with her. (T15:903)

Derrick Scott met Jennifer Embry at Florida Technical College where they were both computer science students.(T17:1176-1183) Although Scott was married, he and Jennifer dated and had sexual relationship from July to November 1995. (T17:1182-1186) They parted friends. (T17:1188-1189) Detective Hinson interviewed Scott in October 1998. (T15:911-914; T17:1192) Scott related having seen Jennifer talking to a

man in the parking lot of the school after class sometime before October 1995. (T17:1192-1198) Jennifer was seated in her car and the man was standing beside the car talking to her. (T17:1196-1197) Scott said the man was about six feet two inches tall, medium build with a low cut hair cut, goatee and a scar on his face. (T17:1196-1197) When shown a set of photographs, Scott identified a side view photograph of James Belcher based on the scar. (T17:1191-1194, 1204-1205) Scott identified Belcher in court as the man he saw. (T17:1197-1198)

Elaine Rowe worked as an administrative assistant at Florida Technical College in 1995 through part of 1996. (T17:1211-1213) She worked at the front entrance to the school, and she knew Jennifer Embry.(T17:1213-1214) Rowe stated that one time a man came to the school asking to have Jennifer called from class to speak with her. (T17:1214-1215) The man was African-American, taller than six feet, wore a short haircut and appeared to be in his 30's. (T17:1215-1216) Rowe remembered that he was well-dressed, polite, and had a professional demeanor. (T17:1216) He and Jennifer Embry had a conversation. (T17:1216-1217) Rowe said there were no problems associated with the meeting. (T17:1224) She remembered the event because this was the only time she recalled someone coming to the school asking to see a student. (T17:1216) When shown a group of photographs, Rowe picked out

Belcher's photo. (T17:1217-1220; 1225-1230) Rowe also identified Belcher in court. (T17:1222)

Janelle Mueller, a forensic biologist with FDLE, examined several items of evidence for the presence of semen. (T16: 968-979) She found semen present on the vaginal swabs, one of the green slippers found in the master bathroom and on a mattress pad from the master bedroom.(T16:973-9778) Because she had been informed that the body was found in the bathroom, Mueller did not save a sample from the mattress pad for DNA testing. (T16:977-978) Mueller performed DNA testing on samples from the vaginal swabs and the green slipper using the PCR testing method. (T16:964-966) During the investigation, Detective Hinson obtained DNA samples from several men who had had a sexual relationship or dated Jennifer Embry. (T15:829-837) Mueller compared the DNA samples from these men to the semen samples was able to exclude all of them as depositors of the semen except Robert Davis. (T16:979-985) She also compared DNA samples from James Belcher and was unable to exclude him. (T16: 985-986) Mueller forwarded the samples to another analyst for DNA testing using the RFLP testing method which can render more information. (T16:965-966)

Dr. James Pollack, a DNA analyst with FDLE, performed DNA testing on samples from the vaginal swabs and slippers and compared them to DNA samples from a number of individuals, including Robert Davis and James Belcher. (T16:1034-1048) He used the RFLP testing method. (T16:1040, 1045) Pollack was able to exclude all of the individuals, except James Belcher, as depositors of the semen found on the exhibits. (T16:1047-1049) Belcher's DNA was a match to the DNA found on the slippers and the vaginal swabs. (T16:1049, 1058)

Dr. Martin Tracey, a professor of biology with expertise in population statistical genetics, testified. (T17:1098-1173) Initially, Tracey checked Dr. Pollock's work regarding the matches of the known DNA to the evidence samples. (T17:1117-1118) He then calculated the odds of someone other than the known individual with the genetic match to the evidence sample being a contributor of the DNA on the sample using FBI DNA database. (T17:118-1125) Regarding the sample on the vaginal swab, Tracy calculated that the odds of someone in addition to Belcher being the contributor of the DNA at one in two trillion when using the African-American data.(T17:1134) When using the Caucasian data, the odds were one in 400 billion. (T17:1141) The Hispanic data produced odds of one in 300 billion. (TT17:1141-1142)

database compiled by the Broward County Sheriff's Office.

(T17:1140) Those calculations placed the odds at one in 833 million. (T17:1140)

Penalty Phase And Sentencing

The State presented four witnesses at the penalty phase of Jennifer Embry's father, brother and friend the trial. testified to the impact Embry's death had on their lives. (T20: 1545, 1548, 1550) Wanda White, who was the victim in a prior crime for which Belcher was convicted, testified about the circumstances of the offense. (T20:1522-1523) Belcher was convicted for burglary and aggravated assault in (T20:1553) White testified that a man entered her home while she was asleep, placed a gun to her, ordered her into the bathroom where he tied her and then masturbated on her back. (T20:1523-1544) She did not see the man's face. (T20:1527, 1532) Belcher and White had contact before this event, and she identified Belcher as the man by the sound of his voice and general physical build. (T20:1532) The State also introduced judgments Belcher had for an attempted robbery in 1981 and a robbery in 1976. (T20:1553-1554)

The defense presented nine witnesses. James Belcher's mother, two aunts, and sister talked about his family background. (T20:1558, 1589, 1599, 1612) Laura Flowers testified

about Belcher's lack of a disciplinary record at the jail. (T21:1664) Stephanie Cook, a former teacher at the prison where Belcher had been incarcerated, testified about his assistance in a tutoring program she headed. (T21:1627) Three youthful inmates testified to how Belcher mentored them as a tutor in the program and also as a friend -- teaching them to avoid confrontations and motivating them to better themselves. (T21: 1666, 1684, 1712)

Earline Floyd is James Belcher's mother. (T20:1559) James was born on July 1, 1959, and he is her oldest child. (T20:1559-1560) When James was three or four years old, Floyd separated from James' father and moved from Jacksonville to New York where she married Ray Brown within a couple of years. (T20: 1561-1562) Floyd had two other children, Lashawn and Raymond, who were six and ten years younger that James. (T20:1561-1562) They lived in a low income and high crime area in the Brownville part of Brooklyn. (T20:1566-1567) Later, they were able to move to an area where the crime rate was lower. (T20:1567) When James was 15-years-old, he snatched a purse. (T20:1567-1568) He was prosecuted as an adult and sent to an adult prison for five years. (T20:1567-1568) Although James did not complete high school, he received his GED and attended college for a year. (T20: 1579-1581) At age 21, James was living with his father in

Jacksonville, and he was convicted in Nassau County for robbery. (T20: 1568-1569) Floyd stated her relationship with her son was good, and they always remained in close contact with one anther. (T20:1569-1570) James was a good influence on others, and he was a guest speaker at the youth program at his mother's church where he counseled the youth to stay away from trouble. (T20:1578-1579) James was also close to his other relatives. (T20:1570-1572) One cousin, Wayne Deas, credits James with steering him away from trouble growing up. Deas is a Florida State graduate with a successful financial services business on Wall Street. (T20:1570-1572) A niece had lost three babies who died at childbirth. (T20:1573) From jail, James wrote to her and called her providing her a source of hope and inspiration. (T20:1572-1573)

Betty Burney is James' aunt. (T20: 1590) Burney owned a daycare business and formerly worked as an assistant vice president in a bank. (T20: 1590) She noted that she was only few years older than James, and their relationship was more like a brother and sister. (T20:1591) James was always polite and considerate of others. (T20:1592) James wanted her to be sure to talk to her two young sons about keeping out of trouble. (T20:1593) Burney felt that James could continue to be positive influence for her and her sons even from a prison cell. (T20:

1594-1595) She planned to visit James and bring her sons to visit him as well. (T20:1595-1596)

Lashawn Cason is Belcher's younger sister. (T20:1600) James was always a supportive big brother to her. (T20:1601-1602) He counseled and supported her when she had trouble in her marriage. (T20: 1602) He helped her when her father died. (T20:1604) He encouraged her to continue school and to stay out of trouble. (T20: 1604-1605) James had a relationship with a woman named Aretha who was Lashawn's neighbor. (T20:1606) They had a son, Devin. (T20: 1606) James treated Aretha's older children the same as he did his own son. (T20:1606) Lashawn was of the opinion that James could be a positive influence in her life and in the lives of others even while he was in prison. (T20:1607-1609)

Priscilla Jenkins is James Belcher's aunt. (T20:1613) She is an Assist Dean for Academic Affairs at Morris Brown College and a trained counselor. (T20:1612-1613, 1615) She is six years older than James, and they grew up much like a close big sister and younger brother. (T20:1613-1614) He was always the child who looked out for others. (T20: 1614) He was polite and caring. (T20:1614-1616) She felt James could continue to contribute to others in prison. (T20: 1616)

While incarcerated at Appalachee Correctional Institution, Belcher worked as a tutor and educational assistant in the literacy program which prepared inmates to take the GED exams. (T21:1628-1635) Stephanie Cook was the director of the program. She stated that Belcher's assistance in the (T21: 1628-1629) program was very useful. (T21:1635) Cook worked with Belcher everyday. (T21: 1634) She always felt safe around him. (T21: 1639-1640) In addition to generally assisting her in the classroom, Belcher tutored the inmate students directly. (T21:1635-1636) The prison had a large number of young inmates. (T21: 1636) They looked up to Belcher and sought him out for advise inside and outside the classroom. (T21:1636-1637) Because of Belcher's calm demeanor and intelligence, the younger inmates benefitted from their contact with him. (T21:1642) others feel comfortable in approaching him. (T21:1642-1643) Belcher recruited students into the voluntary program, and Cook had a high participation rate in the program because of Belcher's assistance. (T21:1635) Cook believed Belcher's interest in educational work was real, and he gained satisfaction from helping others. (T21:1638, 1643)

Five inmates from Appalachee Correctional Institution testified about how Belcher helped and mentored them. (T21:1666, 1684, 1712, 1732, 1751) Robert Hiers went to prison when he was

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