IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES BELCHER,

Appellant,

CASE NO. SC01-1414

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CHARMAINE M. MILLSAPS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0989134

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

Among the mitigating circumstances you may consider if established by the evidence are:

Any aspects of the defendant's character or record, and any other circumstances of the offense that would mitigate against the imposition of the death penalty.

The trial court did not read the requested list of mitigators to the jury.

Preservation

This issue is not preserved. Appellant properly submitted his special jury instruction requests in writing. 15 However, the submitted list is not actually a list of special jury instructions. The requested list is more akin to directed verdicts of mitigation. The list is not worded as permissive instructions; rather, they are worded as mandatory. example, the statement that Belcher displayed proper behavior during trial should have been worded, if you find that Belcher displayed proper behavior during trial, you may consider this as a mitigating circumstance. The statement that Belcher "was unable to resist the temptation of crime" is a conclusion, not a jury instruction. Counsel cannot frame the requests regarding mitigation in this manner. This list simply does not contain proposed jury instructions. This issue is not preserved because no "special jury instructions" were submitted to the trial court.

The standard of review

¹⁵ Gavlick v. State, 740 So.2d 1212,1213 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999)(holding the failure to file a written request for a special instruction precludes appellate review); Watkins v. State, 519 So.2d 760, 761 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988)(noting special jury instructions must be in writing if the issue is to be preserved for appellate review); Brown v. State, 206 So.2d 377, 384 (Fla. 1968)(observing that ordinarily a special jury instruction should be drafted and submitted to the trial judge).

The standard of review for declining to give a special jury instruction is abuse of discretion. Darling v. State, 808 So.2d 145, 160 (Fla. 2002)(concluding that the trial court did not abuse its discretion by refusing to give a requested special jury instruction regarding circumstantial evidence); Card v. State, 803 So.2d 613, 624 (Fla. 2001)(stating that the decision on whether to give a particular jury instruction is within the trial court's discretion). Belcher incorrectly asserts that the standard of review is de novo. IB at 37. Belcher cannot change the standard of review by wrapping a claim of due process around this issue. Cf. Branan v. Booth, 861 F.2d 1507, 1508 (11th Cir.1988)(holding that a state law issue "couched in terms of equal protection and due process" remains a state law issue that is not cognizable in federal habeas). The standard of review is abuse of discretion.

Merits

These special jury instructions are not proper statements of the law. Special jury instructions must be correct statements of the law or a trial court may properly refuse to give them. Stephens v. State, 787 So.2d 747, 756 (Fla. 2001)(noting that to be entitled to a special jury instruction, the special instruction must be a correct statement of the law). The list contains a series of improper directed verdicts on mitigation. The list does not inform the jury that they may properly consider such things on the list as mitigating; rather, it makes factual findings in mitigation and then informs the jury that

they must agree with these findings. Whether Belcher has ever abused alcohol or drugs is a question of fact for the jury to determine. Mitigating instructions framed in this manner are not correct statements of the law.

This Court has held repeatedly that the "catch-all" standard jury instruction on nonstatutory mitigation when coupled with counsel's right to argue mitigation is sufficient. 16 Justice Anstead has expressed concern with the adequacy of "catch-all" jury instruction. Downs v. Moore, 801 So.2d 906, 918 (Fla. 2001)(Anstead, J., concurring). Justice Anstead thinks that the "brief" instruction did not sufficiently inform the jury that they could properly consider anything as nonstatutory mitigation. However, this concern ignores the ability of defense counsel to argue specific mitigation and tie that argument to the catch-all instruction. Indeed, the language of the catch-all, "any aspect of the defendant's character or record and any of the circumstances of the offense that the defendant proffers as a basis for a sentence less than death" is from Lockett. Lockett 438 U.S. at 604, 98 S.Ct. 2954. Through the combination of counsel's arguments and the catch-all instruction, the jury would know that it could consider anything to be mitigating. The due process right to inform the jury may be satisfied either through a jury instruction or argument of counsel. Simmons v. South Carolina, 512 U.S. 154, 114 S.Ct.

¹⁶ Booker v. State, 773 So.2d 1079, 1091 (Fla.2000);
Zakrzewski v. State, 717 So.2d 488, 495 (Fla.1998); Elledge v.
State, 706 So.2d 1340, 1346 (Fla.1997); James v. State, 695
So.2d 1229, 1238 (Fla.1997).

2187, 129 L.Ed.2d 133 (1994)(O'Connor, J., concurring)(holding that due process entitles the defendant to inform the jury of his parole ineligibility, either by a jury instruction or by counsel's argument). A capital defendant receives both a general jury instruction on mitigation and the right to present specific argument by counsel.

In Boyde v. California, 494 U.S. 370, 381, 110 S.Ct. 1190, 1198, 108 L.Ed.2d 316 (1990), the United States Supreme Court upheld a catch-all mitigating jury instruction. California's general mitigating instruction, referred to as factor (k), allowed the jury to consider: "any other circumstance which extenuates the gravity of the crime even though it is not a legal excuse for the crime." Boyde argued that this jury instruction violated the Eighth Amendment because it did not allow the jury to consider his background and character as mitigating evidence because the language "extenuates the gravity of the crime" limited mitigating circumstances to those related to the crime. The Boyde Court reasoned that there was no reasonable likelihood that the jury interpreted the catch-all instruction as preventing consideration of mitigating background and character evidence. The Supreme Court noted defense counsel had stressed a broad reading of the instruction in his argument to the jury: "[I]t is almost a catchall phrase. Any other circumstance, and it means just that, any other circumstance which extenuates the gravity of the crime even though it is not a legal excuse." The Supreme Court also noted the prosecutor never suggested that Boyde's mitigation evidence

could not be considered. The Supreme Court noted that the jury was unlikely to engage in "technical hairsplitting"; rather, the jury was likely to engage in "commonsense understanding" of the instruction. The Supreme Court found that the instruction language "any other circumstance" certainly included a defendant's background and character.

California's catch-all instruction at issue in Boyde was more narrow than Florida's catch-all instruction which contains no "extenuates the gravity of the crime" limiting language. Florida's catch-all instruction allows the jury to consider "any other aspects of the defendant's character or record" mitigating evidence. Belcher attempts to distinguish Boyde by arguing that the catch-all instruction in Boyde stated that the jury shall consider; whereas, here, Florida's catch-all instruction states that the jury may consider. However, the shall language was not part of the Boyde Court's reasoning; rather, the Supreme Court focused on the fact that there was no reasonable likelihood that the jury interpreted the catch-all instruction as preventing consideration of mitigating evidence. Likewise, under Florida's catch-all instruction, there is no reasonable likelihood that the jury would interpret the catchall instruction as preventing consideration of mitigating evidence merely because they were instructed that they "may" consider any aspect of the defendant's character as mitigating rather than "shall" consider. The common-sense understanding of "may" means can if you want to, which is exactly what the constitution requires. The constitution requires that the jury be free to consider any mitigating evidence, not that the jury must find the evidence to be mitigating.

Many other jurisdictions also have catch-all mitigating jury instructions using "may" language. North Carolina's general statutory catch-all mitigating instruction, N.C.G.S. § 15A-2000(f)(9), provides:

Mitigating Circumstances.--Mitigating circumstances which $\underline{\text{may}}$ be considered shall include, but not be limited to, the following:

Any other circumstance arising from the evidence which the jury deems to have mitigating value.

The North Carolina Supreme Court has rejected the contention that a catch-all jury instruction which states "may" rather than "must" consider mitigating circumstances violates the Eighth Amendment. State v. Green, 443 S.E.2d 14, 33 (N.C. 1994)(citing State v. Lee, 439 S.E.2d 547 (N.C. 1994).

The problem with giving special jury instructions listing specific mitigation is that the jury may consider something mitigating that was not listed nor argued by defense counsel. If this occurs, having the general instruction rather than special mitigating instruction is beneficial to the defendant. Furthermore, the wording of the special instructions will become problematic. Standard jury instructions were promulgated for exactly this reason, i.e., to avoid appellate issues relating to idiosyncratic wording of jury instructions. This Court, to the extent it can, will have to formulate standard "special" instructions on prototypical mitigation. However, because some mitigation is unique or a matter of first impression, additional new special jury instructions will be required in every case and

no doubt raised as error on appeal. Accordingly, the trial court did not abuse its discretion by declining to give the requested "special jury instructions".

Harmless error

The error, if any, was harmless because defense counsel argued all of the listed mitigation in closing arguments of the penalty phase. (T. XXI 1811- T. XXII 1826). Indeed, counsel's practice was to use such a list as an outline for closing argument. Defense counsel referred to the catch-all instruction in his closing argument, explaining that "you're to consider as mitigating any aspect of the defendant's character." (T. XXI 1819). Furthermore, this is not a case where the prosecutor argued that the proffered mitigation did not count as mitigating evidence. Payton v. Woodford, 258 F.3d 905, 926 (9th Cir. 2001)(Hawkins, J., dissenting)(finding a due process violation based on prosecutor's argument that events that occurred after the murder, such as a religious conversion, were not proper mitigation); Boyde, 494 U.S. at 386 n. 6, 110 S.Ct. 1190 (noting that prosecutors in other cases may have pressed a construction of factor (k) that would cause the sentencing proceedings to violate the Eighth Amendment). The prosecutor said: "you heard he helped some other inmates. mitigator. You can consider it. You can consider the fact his mother lives with him. That's great. That's a mitigator. You can consider the fact he loved his mother. That's a mitigator" (T. XXI 1779). The prosecutor argued that while he was sure the

defendant helped the inmates and that it was proper mitigation, it should be given little weight, if any. (T. XXI 1796). Thus, the trial court's refusal to give the requested special instructions on mitigation was harmless.

ISSUE IV

DOES APPRENDI APPLY TO CAPITAL CASES WHERE THE JURY RECOMMENDS DEATH? (Restated)

Belcher asserts that his death sentence violates the holding of Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000). The requirements of Apprendi and Ring were met in this case. Apprendi requires a jury rather than a judge make the determination of certain facts and that those facts be proven beyond a reasonable doubt rather than by the preponderance standard. Both requirements were met. The jury recommended a death sentence and the aggravators were proven beyond a reasonable doubt. Belcher cannot present a valid Apprendi challenge to Florida's death penalty statutes. Belcher had a jury at sentencing. A jury was present during the penalty phase; heard the evidence of aggravators and mitigators; was instructed on aggravating circumstances and the requirement that they be proven beyond a reasonable doubt. Belcher's jury then recommended death by a 9 to 3 vote. In Florida, only a defendant in a jury override case has any basis to raise an Apprendi challenge to Florida's death penalty statute. capital defendant who has had a jury recommend death simply cannot claim that his right to a jury trial was violated. There can be no violation of the right to a jury trial under these facts. Thus, the death penalty imposed in this case does not violate Apprendi.

The standard of review

Whether the defendant's right to a jury trial has been violated is reviewed de novo. United States v. Harris, 244 F.3d 828, 829 (11th Cir. 2001)(holding that the applicability of Apprendi is a pure question of law reviewed de novo); United States v. Arellano-Rivera, 244 F.3d 1119, 1127 (9th Cir.2001)(concluding that whether the district court violated the constitutional rule expressed in Apprendi is a question of law reviewed de novo). Hence, the standard of review is de novo.

The trial court's ruling

The defendant filed a pre-trial motion attacking the death penalty statute on Apprendi grounds. (R.II 379-389). He claimed that Apprendi required notice of the aggravators in the indictment; that the jury must make written findings and the jury's recommendation must be unanimous. The trial court denied the motion. (R. II 390). Appellant also filed a motion for statement of particular aggravators arguing that due process required per-trial notification of aggravating circumstances citing Gardner v. Florida, 430 U.S. 349, 97 S.Ct. 1197, 51 L.Ed.2d 393 (1977) and Gregg v. Georgia, 428 U.S. 153, 96 S.Ct. 2909, 49 L.Ed.2d 859 (1976). (R. I 192-195). The trial court also denied this motion. (R. I 196).

<u>Preservation</u>

This issue is preserved. Apprendi challenges, like other constitutional challenges to statutes, must be preserved. Cf.

McGregor v. State, 789 So.2d 976, 977 (Fla. 2001)(holding that petitioner did not properly preserve the Apprendi issue for appellate review); Hertz v. State, 803 So.2d 629, 647 (Fla. 2001)(holding that a constitutional challenge to the victim impact statute in a capital case was not preserved because Hertz did not file any motion concerning the constitutionality of the statute in the trial court). The United States Supreme Court recently held that an Apprendi claim is not plain error. United States v. Cotton, 122 S.Ct. 1781 (May 20, 2002)(holding an indictment's failure to include the quantity of drugs was an Apprendi error but it did not seriously affect fairness, integrity, or public reputation of judicial proceedings, and thus did not rise to level of plain error). Plain error is akin to fundamental error. If an Apprendi error is not plain error, it certainly is not fundamental error. However, appellant

Actually, fundamental error is closer to structural error. Arizona v. Fulminante, 499 U.S. 279, 310, 111 S.Ct. 1246, 113 L.Ed.2d 302 (1991). Structural errors are errors that affect the framework within which the trial proceeds and therefore are per se reversible error and not subject to harmless error analysis. Structural errors are defects that necessarily render a criminal trial fundamentally unfair or an unreliable vehicle for determining guilt or innocence. Neder v. United States, 527 U.S. 1, 9, 119 S.Ct. 1827, 144 L.Ed.2d 35 Plain error is a broader concept than Florida's The federal rules of criminal procedure fundamental error. allow federal courts to review unpreserved error. Fed. R. Crim. Pro. 52(b)(providing that plain errors or defects affecting substantial rights may be noticed although they were not brought to the attention of the court). Florida has no such rule. only unpreserved errors that Florida courts should address are fundamental errors. Chandler v. State, 702 So.2d 186, 191, n. 5 (Fla.1997) (describing fundamental error as error so prejudicial that it vitiates the entire trial).

raised the same issue in the trial court and obtained a ruling. Therefore, the issue is preserved.

Merits

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that "[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury . . ."

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